COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent

v.

DANIEL DEMETRIUS ANDERSON, Appellant

Appeal from the Superior Court of Pierce County The Honorable Kathryn J. Nelson, DEPARTMENT NO. 13 Pierce County Superior Court Cause No. 12-1-04166-2

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

By:

Barbara Corey Attorney for Appellant WSBA #11778 902 S. 10th Street Tacoma, WA 98405 (253) 779-0844

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE:

Procedural facts:

The State of Washington charged Daniel Anderson in Pierce

County Superior case 12-1-04166-2 with Robbery in the First Degree. CP

1. The matter proceeded to trial before Department 13, the Honorable

Katherine Nelson. RP 3.

Mr. Anderson's codefendant entered a guilty plea shortly after the trial started. RP 26. Because the codefendant, DeJuan Antonio Allen, pleaded guilty, there was no need for a CrR 3.5 hearing. RP 27. Mr. Anderson's counsel stated,

"I think the purpose of the 3.5 hearing was primarily to do with co-counsel's matter. As I explained to Mr. Anderson, I don't really see any issues with the statements. Moreover, the statements that would be given, defense would be seeking to have those admitted in trial because that's basically defendant's story as far as his non-culpability in this case. So for those reasons, defense is seeking to stipulate to the admissibility of those statements." RP 27.

The parties entered a written stipulation that the codefendant's statements had been taken as required by CrR 3.5. RP 36-37; CP 17-20. The State further averred that it intended to offer the statements during its case in chief. RP 37.

At trial, Montes-Boles identified Mr. Anderson as one of the individuals who had robbed her. RP 113. She testified that she knew him because she previously bought drugs from him. RP 113. She also testified that the last time she bought drugs from him, he sold her \$60 worth of "peanut" or fake drugs. RP 113. She said this was not a problem for her because she was buying the drugs for someone who could afford it. RP 113-114.

Trial counsel failed to object to any of the foregoing testimony. RP 113-114.

Montes-Boles testified that she had not seen Mr. Anderson since that date. RP 117. When the prosecutor asked her why, she responded, "Why? I'm not smoking crack. I don't need his services, and he didn't sell real crack, so I really didn't need his services, you know." RP 117.

Trial counsel failed to object to this testimony. RP 117.

Montes-Boles provided contradictory testimony regarding her last contact with Mr. Anderson. Montes-Boles claimed that she saw Mr. Anderson at the Hilltop McDonald's in November 2011 .RP 115. She claimed that she approached him and he made the comment, "Bitch, it wasn't even your money. I don't owe you shit." RP 115.

Again, trial counsel failed to object to any of the foregoing testimony. RP 115.

Once again, trial counsel failed to object to this testimony. RP 117.

Montes-Boles testified that on the date of this incident she first had a contact with Mr. Anderson about 3 pm outside the Stop-and-Go where she believed he offered to sell her dope. RP 119. She told Mr. Anderson that she even if she wanted to buy dope, she would not buy it from him because he previously sold her fake dope. RP 119.

Again, trial counsel did not object to this testimony. RP 119.

The prosecutor asked Montes-Boles whether she had seen Mr. Anderson between the time he sold her "bunk dope" and the events of November 3, 2013. RP 163. She responded that she'd seen him a couple of times in passing and one specific time at the bus stop. RP 164.

The prosecutor asked Montes-Boles if she was falsely accusing Mr. Anderson because he had sold her bunk dope in the past. RP 165-166.

On cross-examination of Montes-Boles, trial counsel asked Montes-Boles why she referred to Mr. Anderson and Mr. Allen as "partners." RP 167. This question caused Montes-Boles to render a completely nonresponsive answer and instead to opine about the "logistics of being a drug dealer" and what a drug dealer usually does which requires two individuals. RP 167. She knew this activity as "scouting. Pinning." RP 167. She testified that Mr. Anderson and elicited

testimony from her regarding the "logistics of being a drug dealer." RP 167. Montes-Boles then testified that Mr. Anderson and Mr. Allen had employed this technique or her "until the events that unfortunately ended up happening that day. ." RP 167. Trial counsel made no effort to ask the court to order Montes-Boles to make a responsive answer to his question, withdraw his question, stop her answer when it became apparent that she was not going to answer it, and to ask for a curative instruction from the court. RP 167-168.

Montes-Boles admitted that she did not tell police that Mr. Anderson initially told Mr. Allen to get her phone. RP 170. She said that she did not know his name. RP 170. She had known him for a couple of years and always called him "D". RP 166.

In closing argument, trial counsel argued that Montes-Boles fabricated the story against Mr. Anderson because she was angry at him. RP 242. The State was so concerned that she had this motive that they asked her on the stand whether she would lie because she received bunk dope instead of real dope. RP 242. She said it was not big deal, however she was angry and upset about it on the stand. RP 242. She testified that every time she had run into him since the bunk dope incident, she had brought up the subject and laid into him. RP 243. She obviously considered it to be a personal issue and her anger did not abate. RP 243. Montes-Boles was inebriated that night – she testified that she was "feeling good." RP 138.

The jury convicted Mr. Anderson of first-degree robbery, as charged. RP 262; CP 49;.

On June 14, 2013, the parties appeared for sentencing. RP 269. The court determined that Mr. Anderson's offender score was five. RP 274, 274-275. The State recommended the high end of standard range, 75 months, with eighteen months of community custody. RP 75-276.

Defense counsel asked for the low end or "near the bottom of the range", noting that although this conviction was for first degree robbery, Mr. Anderson did not use a weapon nor did he inflict serious injury on her or take property of great value. RP 278.

In his allocution, Mr. Anderson protested his innocence. RP 280. He informed the court that on the day on this incident, November 3, 2013, he had an appointment scheduled for Tacoma Community College of November 5, 2013, to meet with his advisor to discuss his financial aid for the quarter. RP 281-282. He also participated in studies at Northwest Kinetics and was scheduled for a three day study for \$1,500. RP 282. Mr. Anderson steadfastly maintained that he had nothing whatsoever to do with this incident. RP 282.

The court sentenced Mr. Anderson within the standard range to 70 months in the Department of Corrections with 18 months of community custody. RP 284.

Mr. Anderson timely filed this appeal. CP 66.

Testimonial Facts:

Vicki Montes-Boles lived on Tacoma's Hilltop on November 3, 2012. RP 101, 09. Although Montes-Boles has a lengthy history of drug addiction, she claimed to be off drugs and only drinking beer that day. RP103-109. She asserted that she consumed only three beers that day but that she bought beers for other people throughout the day. RP 109-110.

Montes-Boles had made "probably four" trips to the Stop-and-Go to buy that beer. RP 117-118. In between trips, she was "illegally drinking beer in the alley" with her friends Roach and Greg. RP 118. She was "feeling good." RP 138.

She averred that she first had a contact with Mr. Anderson about 3:00 pm outside the Stop-and-Go where she believed he was offering to sell her dope. RP 119. She told Mr. Anderson that she even if she wanted to buy dope, she would not buy it from him because he sold her fake dope. RP 119.

After leaving the Stop-and-Go, Montes-Boles joined a bunch of people whom she knew. RP 141-142. She knew some of the people. RP 142. One of the girl asked her to make a phone call for her on Montes-Boles' cell phone. RP 142. Montes-Boles made the call for her. RP 142.

Montes-Boles then claimed to have been surrounded by five or six people.

RP 142. The next thing she recalled was being hit from on both sides of her head.

RP 142-143. Mr. Anderson was not there at that time. RP 143. Mr. Allen likewise was not present. RP 143.

Montes Boles claimed to have heard Mr. Anderson yell, "Get the phone." RP 143. She did not know how or when he arrived. RP 144.

The phone went flying out of her hand and Monte-Boles allegedly heard Mr. Anderson yell, "Get the phone, get the phone." RP 144. Montes-Boles knew there was a third person present who picked up the phone. RP 146.

Mr. Allen was hitting her on the head and Montes-Boles was covering her face. RP 144. Mr. Allen also put his hand down her shirt to get her money. RP 146-147.

She did not ever see Mr. Anderson strike her. RP 145.

Montes-Boles believed that the third person gave the phone to Mr. Allen. RP 147. Montes-Boles then heard Mr. Allen tell the third person to give him the phone. RP 148.

Montes-Boles never saw Mr. Anderson with the telephone. RP 148.

Apparently all of Montes-Boles' friends left the area during this event and there were no witnesses to corroborate her story. RP 148.

Montes-Boles then went to the Safeway store and asked for assistance calling the police. RP 153,

On November 3, 2012, at about 8:00 p.m. Tacoma Police Department PPO [Police Patrol Officer] Malott responded to a call from the Hilltop Safeway store in Tacoma that a woman had come into the store stating that she had been robbed. RP 63, 72, 73. The store was open for business at the time. RP 72.

Malott saw a woman he recognized from the Hilltop. RP 74. He knew her to be sometimes homeless, sometimes in shelters, and sometimes in an apartment. RP 74. He knew her to be "frequently intoxicated." RP 74-75. By the time of trial, he did not recall observing the smell of alcohol on her. RP 75. He knew that her speech was slurred but noted that it is somewhat slurred most of the time. RP 75. Malott knew her as Vicki Montes-Boles. RP 71, 74.

When Malott contacted her that night, he therefore could not tell whether she was intoxicated because she was very worked up. RP 74. She came running out of the store and she was very sweaty. RP 74.

As she described what had happened to her, she provided identifications for three suspects. RP 76. Malott asked Montes-Boles to ride in his police car with him to look for the suspects in the Hilltop area. RP 77.

Montes-Boles told him that the incident actually occurred at South 14^{th} and J in the alley between MLK and J. RP 77.

After driving around for some time and not seeing any individuals who matched her suspect description, Office Malott pointed to two men in an alley and asked, "Hey, what about those people?" RP, 77-78, 86. At that time, the individuals were in front of the patrol car and so all that Malott and Montes-Boles could see were their backs. RP 87.

Even though she was unable to see any faces, Montes-Boles recognized one of them. RP 86, 87. Montes-Boles was in a position to see the men for 15, 20 seconds before making the identification by looking at the men's backs. RP 87.

Montes-Boles was 30'-40' away when she made this 15-20 second identification of the men from their backsides. RP 86, 87, 88.

Montes-Boles thus positively "100 percent" identified the man whose backside she recognized as her assailant. RP 96-97.

This .nan was not Mr. Anderson. RP 97.

The individual Montes-Boles identified from the back as having been involved in the robbery at Safeway was *not* Mr. Anderson. RP 97. After Montes-Boles identified the suspect by looking at his back, Malott called for other units. RP 86. The suspect wore a dark jacket at that time he was seen in the alley and identified by Montes-Boles. RP 157

After other units arrived and the suspects were detained, Malott and other officers talked to them. RP 88. While they talked to them. Montes-Boles could view them. RP 88. Police talked to the men in a "decently lit" area. RP 88.

After advisement and waiver of his constitutional rights, Officer Keith O'Rourke contacted Mr. Anderson, he asked Mr. Anderson why police were contacting him. RP 196. Mr. Anderson stated that he did not know. RP 195-196. O'Rourke told Mr. Anderson that police were following up on a reported robbery. RP 196. Mr. Anderson replied that he did not know what was going on. RP 196.

Mr. Anderson stated that he met his friend at the Stop-and-Go and then they had been walking up to McDonald's, that he didn't see anything illegal and that he did not participate in anything illegal. RP 91-92, 196-197. Mr. Anderson stated that he had not participated in any robbery. RP 201. Mr. Anderson stated that he had not witnessed any robbery. RP 201. Mr. Anderson stated that he was walking to meet his buddy. RP 201-202. O'Rourke talked to Mr. Anderson for about three minutes. RP 197.

During the routine police pat-down of Mr. Anderson, police did not find any cell phone. RP 202.

When they did the show-up after talking to Mr. Anderson and the codefendant, they "actually lit them up with [our] spotlight." RP 88-89. Montes-Boles, who had been observing this eight to ten minute interview in "decent" lighting, identified Mr. Anderson as involved in the incident. RP 88, 93, 94. Police did not have the men participate in a "back" line-up, which, of course, had been the initial manner in which Monte-Boles identified the suspects. *Passim*.

After the men were arrested, Malott drove Montes-Boles to her residence and had her write out a statement. RP 98.

Monte-Boles described one of the suspects as wearing a dark-colored jacket. RP 99. Malott described Mr. Anderson's jacket as dark-colored. RP 99.

Police took Mr. Anderson's jacket, a Chicago Bulls jacket, into evidence that night. RP 198, 199, 200. Mr. Anderson was described as wearing a dark

jacket. RP 99. No witness described him as wearing a jacket with the Chicago Bulls logo visible. RP 198-199.

No stolen property was recovered. RP 99-100.

At trial, Montes-Boles identified Mr. Anderson as one of the individuals who had robbed her. RP 113. She testified that she knew him because she had bought drugs from him. RP 113. She also testified that the last time she bought drugs from him, he sold her \$60 worth of "peanut" or fake drugs. RP 113. She said this was not a problem for her because she was buying the drugs for someone who could afford it. RP 113-114.

Montes-Boles claimed that she saw Mr. Anderson at the Hilltop McDonald's a couple of weeks before the Safeway incident. RP 115. She claimed that she approached him and he made the comment, "Bitch, it wasn't even your money. I don't owe you shit." RP 115.

Montes-Boles, however, was unsure about the date of that contact and thought maybe it had been "a couple of weeks after he sold [me] the fake dope." RP 116.

Montes-Boles testified that she had not seen Mr. Anderson since that date. RP 117. When the prosecutor asked her why, she responded, "Why? I'm not smoking crack. I don't need his services, and he didn't sell real crack, so I really didn't need his services, you know." RP 117. The codefendant was present all through this encounter. RP 131-132.

At no time did Mr. Anderson make any threats toward Montes-Boles. RP 134. Their encounter lasted less than a minute. RP 134.

The incident at Safeway occurred "quite a while" later, probably as much as two hours later. RP 134, 135.

Montes-Boles had a cell phone with her all day. RP 135. She testified that she is "always on her phone" and that she texts a lot. RP 136. She allows other people to use her phone as long as they are not making drug calls. RP 136.

On November 3, 2012, Montes-Boles allowed the codefendant to use her phone. RP 137. This happened after the encounter at the Stop-and-Go. RP 137.

After the codefendant, Mr. Allen, used the phone, Montes-Boles and her friends walked around and drank beer. RP 137-138. She described herself as "feeling good." RP 138.

When Montes-Boles was making another trip to the Stop-and-Go, Mr. Allen and Mr. Anderson crossed the street. RP 138. Mr. Allen asked to use her phone and she refused to let him. RP 138. Mr. Allen then said to Mr. Anderson, "Get the bitch's phone." RP 138.

At that point, Montes-Boles' "old associate" named Mellow approached her and asked what she was doing. RP 138. When he found out what she was doing, he walked her to the Stop-and-Go. RP 138. They were at the store for five minutes. RP 139.

When they exited the store, Montes-Boles noticed that Mr. Allen and Mr. Anderson were at a nearby bus stop. RP 139. She walked off in a different direction. RP 139-140.

Montes-Boles saw a group of people, some of whom she knew and she decided to stop to talk with them. RP 142. She made a call for a girl. RP 142.

While she made the call, she was surrounded by five or six people and then hit from both sides of the head. RP 142-143. At that time, neither Mr. Allen nor Mr. Anderson were there. RP 143.

Montes-Boles then heard Mr. Anderson yell, "Get the phone, get the phone." RP 143, 144. Mr. Allen hit her many times during this incident. RP 144. Mr. Allen also put his hand down her shirt to take her money. RP 146.

Montes-Boles did not testify that Mr. Anderson ever hit her. RP 145.

Montes-Boles did not know who took her phone. RP 145. She did hear her phone hit the sidewalk. RP 146.

There was a third person who picked up the phone and "gave it to them." RP 147. Mr. Allen got the phone. RP 147.

Mr. Allen then asked the guy who got the phone, "You got a pipe? Come on." RP 147. The three men then walked down the alley. RP 147.

Montes-Boles never saw Mr. Anderson in possession of the phone. RP 148.

Montes-Boles then went to the Safeway. RP 153. Her face was bleeding.

RP 153.

She asked people inside to call the police. RP 153.

Officer Malott came to her aid, took a description of the suspects, and then asked her to ride around with him to see if they could find them. RP 154-155.

Montes-Boles eventually recognized Mr. Allen in an alley because he had on a "really weird shirt." RP 157. She did not identify Mr. Anderson, later claiming that she could not do so because he was wearing a black outfit. RP 97, 157. She later concluded that he had turned his coat inside out because he had been wearing a red Bulls jacket. RP 157. At that time, she saw the men from the rear. RP 156-157.

She later saw the men when an officer brought them to the front of the car where she was seated. RP 158. The officer then got into the front seat of the car and said, "Is that him, Vicki?" RP 158. Montes-Boles responded, "Make him put his face up." RP 158. After the officer ordered the man to do so, Montes-Boles identified that man as Mr. Anderson. RP 159. She also identified Mr. Allen as one of the perpetrators. RP 159.

Police took her to her residence where she wrote out a statement. RP 159-160.

Monte-Boles did not tell police about her prior contacts with Mr. Anderson.

Passim.

C. LAW AND ARGUMENT:

1. TRIAL COUNSEL FAILED TO PROVIDE CONSTITUTIONALLY EFFECTIVE REPRESENTATION TO MR. ANDERSON.

The Sixth Amendment to the United States

Constitution¹ and article I, section 22 of the Washington

Constitution² guarantee the right to effective assistance of

counsel. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 685-86; *State v. Thomas*, 109 Wn.2d 222,

229, 743 P.2d 816 (1987). In *Strickland*, the United States Supreme Court

set forth the prevailing standard under the Sixth Amendment for reversal

of criminal convictions based on ineffective assistance of counsel, 466

¹ Sixth Amendment of the United States Constitution: Rights of the accused. In all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right to a speedy and public trial, by an impartial jury of the State and district wherein the crime shall have been committed, which district shall have been previously ascertained by law, and to be informed of the nature and cause of the accusation; to be confronted with the witnesses against him; to have compulsory process for obtaining witnesses in his favor, and to have the Assistance of Counsel for his defense.

² Wash. Const. Art. I, § 22 Rights of the accused: In criminal prosecutions the accused shall have the right to appear and defend in person, or by counsel, to demand the nature and cause of the accusation against him, to have a copy thereof, to testify in his own behalf, to meet the witnesses against him face to face, to have compulsory process to compel the attendance of witnesses in his own behalf, to have a speedy public trial by an impartial jury of the county in which the offense is charged to have been committed and the right to appeal in all cases: *Provided*, The route traversed by any railway coach, train or public conveyance, and the water traversed by any boat shall be criminal districts; and the jurisdiction of all public offenses committed on any such railway car, coach, train, boat or other public conveyance, or at any station or depot upon such route, shall be in any county through which the said car, coach, train, boat or other public conveyance may pass during the trip or voyage, or in which the trip or voyage may begin or terminate. In no instance shall any accused person before final judgment be compelled to advance money or fees to secure the rights herein guaranteed.

U.S. 668. Under *Strickland*, ineffective assistance is a two-pronged inquiry:

"First, the defendant must show that counsel's performance was deficient. This requires showing that counsel made errors so serious that counsel was not functioning as the 'counsel' guaranteed the defendant by the Sixth Amendment. Second, the defendant must show that the deficient performance prejudiced the defense. This requires showing that counsel's errors were so serious as to deprive the defendant of a fair trial, a trial whose result is reliable. Unless a defendant makes both showings, it cannot be said that the conviction ... resulted from a breakdown in the adversary process that renders the result unreliable."

Thomas, 109 Wn.2d at 225-26 (alteration in original)

(quoting Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687); see also State v. Cienfuegos, 144

Wn.2d 222, 226, 25 P.3d 1011 (2001) ("Washington has adopted

the Strickland test to determine whether a defendant had constitutionally sufficient representation.").

Under this standard, performance is deficient if it falls "below an objective standard of reasonableness." *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 688. The threshold for the deficient performance prong is high, given the deference afforded to decisions of defense counsel in the course of representation.

To prevail on an ineffective assistance claim, a defendant alleging ineffective assistance must overcome "a strong presumption that counsel's performance was reasonable." *State v. Kyllo*, 166 Wn.2d 856, 862, 215 P.3d 177 (2009). Accordingly, the defendant bears the burden of establishing deficient performance. *McFarland*, 127 Wn.2d at 335.

"When counsel's conduct can be characterized as legitimate trial strategy or tactics, performance is not deficient." **Kyllo**, 166 Wn.2d at 863; State v. Garrett, 124 Wn.2d 504, 520, 881 P.2d 185 (1994) ("[T]his court will not find ineffective assistance of counsel if 'the actions of counsel complained of go to the theory of the case or to trial tactics." (quoting *State v. Renfro*, 96 Wn.2d 902, 909, 639 P.2d 737 (1982)). Conversely, a criminal defendant can rebut the presumption of reasonable performance by demonstrating that "there is no conceivable legitimate tactic explaining counsel's performance." State v. Reichenbach, 153 Wn.2d 126, 130, 101 P.3d 80 (2004); State v. Aho, 137 Wn.2d 736, 745-46, 975 P.2d 512 (1999). Not all strategies or tactics on the part of defense counsel are immune from attack. "The relevant question is not whether counsel's choices were strategic, but whether they were reasonable." *Roe* v. Flores-Ortega, 528 U.S. 470, 481, 120 S. Ct. 1029, 145 L. Ed. 2d 985 (2000) (finding that the failure to consult with a client about the possibility of appeal is usually unreasonable).

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