NO. 45008-9-II

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, RESPONDENT

v.

DANIEL DEMETRIUS ANDERSON, APPELLANT

Appeal from the Superior Court of Pierce County
The Honorable Kathryn J. Nelson

No. 12-1-044166-2

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

MARK LINDQUIST Prosecuting Attorney

By KAWYNE A. LUND Deputy Prosecuting Attorney WSB # 19614

930 Tacoma Avenue South Room 946 Tacoma, WA 98402 PH: (253) 798-7400

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

C. ARGUMENT.

1. DEFENDANT RECEIVED EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL.

To demonstrate ineffective assistance of counsel, a defendant must make two showings: (1) defense counsel's representation was deficient, i.e., it fell below an objective standard of reasonableness based on

-8- brief.doc

consideration of all the circumstances; and (2) defense counsel's deficient representation prejudiced the defendant, i.e., there is a reasonable probability that, except for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different. *State v. McFarland*, 127 Wn.2d 322, 335, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995); *State v. Thomas*, 109 Wn.2d 222, 743 P.2d 816 (1987) (applying the 2–prong test in *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 2064, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984)). Competency of counsel is determined based upon the entire record below. *State v. White*, 81 Wn.2d 223, 225, 500 P.2d 1242 (1972) (*citing State v. Gilmore*, 76 Wn.2d 293, 456 P.2d 344 (1969)).

a. <u>Applicable law: Failure to challenge</u> admission of evidence.

In a claim of ineffective assistance based on a failure to challenge the admission of evidence, a defendant must show (1) an absence of legitimate strategic or tactical reasons supporting the challenged conduct, (2) that an objection to the evidence would likely have been sustained, and (3) that the result of the trial would have been different had the evidence not been admitted. *State v. Sexsmith*, 138 Wn. App. 497, 509, 157 P.3d 901 (2007), *review denied*, 163 Wn.2d 1014 (2008); *State v. Saunders*, 91 Wn. App. 575, 958 P.2d 364 (1998).

-9 - brief.doc

The failure to object constitutes counsel incompetence justifying reversal only in egregious circumstances on testimony central to the State's case. *State v. Johnston*, 143 Wn. App. 1, 19, 177 P.3d 1127 (2007). Even if the defendant shows deficient performance, he then must establish prejudice by showing that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's deficient performance, the outcome of the proceedings would have differed. *State v. Grier*, 171 Wn.2d 17, 34, 246 P.3d 1260 (2011).

The test of the skill and competency of counsel is: After considering the entire record, was the accused afforded a fair trial[?]"

State v. Lei, 59 Wn.2d 1, 6, 365 P.2d 609 (1961). Appellant must show that "'there is no conceivable legitimate tactic explaining counsel's performance. "' State v. Grier, 171 Wn.2d at 33 (quoting State v. Reichenbach, 153 Wn.2d 126, 130, 101 P.3d 80 (2004)). One conceivable legitimate tactic explaining counsel's performance could exist if counsel did not want to risk emphasizing the damaging testimony with an objection. State v. Donald, 68 Wn. App. 543, 551, 844 P.2d 447, review denied, 121 Wn.2d 1024 (1993).

In this case, defendant argues several bases in support of his claim for ineffective counsel, including failure to suppress evidence, failure to

- 10 - brief.doc

object, and soliciting unfavorable responses from the victim. To be able to address defendant's assertions, we must first address trial strategy.

"When counsel's conduct can be categorized as legitimate trial strategy or tactics, performance is not deficient." *State v. Kyllo*, 166 Wn.2d 856, 863, 215 P.3d 177 (2009). Generally, legitimate trial strategy cannot serve as the basis for a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel. *State v. Lord*, 117 Wn.2d 829, 883, 822 P.2d 177 (1991).

"To prevail on a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, the defendant must overcome a strong presumption that defense counsel was effective." *State v. Yarbrough*, 151 Wn. App. 66, 90, 210 P.3d 1029 (2009). This presumption includes a strong presumption "that counsel's conduct constituted sound trial strategy." *In re Rice*, 118 Wn.2d 876, 888-89, 828 P.2d 1086 (1992). "If trial counsel's conduct can be characterized as legitimate trial strategy or tactics, it cannot serve as a basis for a claim that the defendant received ineffective assistance of counsel." *State v. Yarbrough*, 151 Wn. App. at 90 (*citing State v. McNeal*, 145 Wn.2d 352, 362, 37 P.3d 280 (2002), *State v. Adams*, 91 Wn.2d 86, 90, 586 P.2d 1168 (1978).

A criminal defendant can rebut the presumption of reasonable performance by showing that his counsel's representation was unreasonable under prevailing professional norms and that there is "no

- 11 - brief.doc

conceivable legitimate tactic" that explains counsel's performance. *State*v. *Grier*, 171 Wn.2d 17, 33, 246 P.3d 1260 (2011) (citations omitted).

That is not the case here.

To be successful in his claim of failure to move to suppress, defendant must show there is a reasonable likelihood he would have been successful in a motion to suppress the show up. To show he was actually prejudiced by counsel's failure to move for suppression, he must show the trial court likely would have granted the motion. It is not enough that the defendant allege prejudice—actual prejudice must appear in the record.

State v. McFarland, 127 Wn.2d 322, 333-34, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995).

In the present case, defendant argues, "that the police officer suggested to her [victim] in a leading manner that [defendant] was the suspect." Brf. of App., p. 20. That "the officer spoke to the defendant in a lighted area visible to the victim prior to the show up." Id. And that the officer "displayed [defendant] to her under a spotlight at close distance to her." Id.

To establish a due process violation, a defendant must show that an identification procedure is suggestive; upon such showing, the court must determine whether, under the totality of the circumstances, the suggestiveness created a substantial likelihood of misidentification.

Manson v. Brathwaite, 432 U.S. 98, 116, 97 S. Ct. 2243, 53 L. Ed. 2d 140

- 12 - brief.doc

(1977); State v. Linares, 98 Wn. App. 397, 401, 989 P.2d 591 (1999) (citing State v. Vaughn, 101 Wn.2d 604, 682 P.2d 78 (1984)).

In making this determination, courts consider: (1) the opportunity of the witness to view the criminal at the time of the crime; (2) the witness's degree of attention; (3) the accuracy of the witness's prior description of the criminal; (4) the level of certainty demonstrated at the confrontation; and (5) the time between the crime and the confrontation.

Mason v. Brathwaite, 432 U.S. at 114; State v. Linares, 98 Wn. App. at 401. Defendant cannot show the trial court likely would have granted a motion to suppress the show up identification.

i. Applicable facts to the five factor test.

In the present case, the victim saw the defendant several times before the evening of the robbery. The victim also testified she saw the defendant several times the evening of the robbery. Vol. 2 RP 114-15, 118-19, 131, 139, 163-64. Therefore the victim had multiple opportunities to view the defendant that evening. Other than the victim's testimony she had consumed beer, there is nothing in the record meaningfully challenging her ability to perceive or recall. The victim had significant opportunity to view the defendant both at the time of the crime and before. The first criterion is satisfied.

- 13 - brief.doc

The victim's degree of attention was particularly heightened as it relates to the defendant. She did not know the co-defendant. Vol. 3 RP 167. She explained the reason she knew the defendant was because of a drug purchase she made long before the robbery. The drugs he sold her were "bunk" or fake. She distinctly recalls the transaction and would remind the defendant when she saw him. Vol. 2 RP 114-15, 118-19, 131-33. Defense counsel used this prior transaction as a motive for the victim to lie and falsely identify him.

"[Victim] has a motive. She does not like [defendant] at all. And today on the stand, she indicated that." "[S]he was pretty angry, upset about it, talking about what personal problem it was for her Every time ...she's run into him since then, this has come up."

Vol. 3 RP 142-43. (*Defendant's closing*). The victim was focused on the defendant, therefore the second criterion is satisfied.

We do not hear much of the actual physical description given by the victim. We do, however, learn that the victim gave a detailed description a number of times. First, to the dispatcher or call operator.

See Ex. 23. (911 tape). Next, to Officer Malott as soon as he arrived. Vol. 2 RP 76. In terms of identification, we have the very specific description of defendant's jacket and co-defendant's distinctive shirt. Vol. 2 RP 76, 90. She told the responding officer as well as the jury that the defendant was wearing a distinctive Chicago Bulls jacket. Vol.2 RP 90; Vol. 3 RP

- 14 - brief.doc

159. There is no dispute that the defendant was arrested wearing a Chicago Bulls jacket. Vol. 2 RP 90. The victim's description is consistent with what the defendant and co-defendant were wearing when stopped by officers. Officer Malott described the co-defendant's shirt as "really, really weird." Vol. 3 RP 157. The record provides sufficient information to infer that the victim's description was sufficiently detailed to allow officers to search the area for the defendant and his co-defendant, and that it was consistent with the two men they arrested. The third criterion is satisfied.

The victim and officers repeatedly said the victim stated that night that she was positive of her identification of the defendant. Vol. 2 RP 93, 97. She was equally positive at trial. Vol. 3 RP 158-59. The fourth criterion is satisfied.

Lastly, though we do not have specific times, it is apparent from the record that a significant amount of time did not pass between the robbery, the victim reporting it to the authorities, and contact with the defendant that night. There is nothing in the record to conclude anything other than the identification and event happened the same evening. The fifth, and final criterion is satisfied.

- 15 - brief.doc

ii. Analysis and additional facts.

Officer Malott testified that the victim identified the men as he and the victim drove up behind the men, who were about 30-40 feet in front of them. Vol. 2 RP 87-88. After she pointed them out, Malott spoke with other officers in an area he described as "decently lit, would not say its well lit, but enough for [victim] to see what we [the officers] were doing." Vol. 2 RP 88. They used different lighting when doing the show up. *Id.* The officer had the victim get out of his patrol car, displayed each defendant separately, and used the patrol car lights to illuminate each suspect individually. Vol. 2 RP 93. The officer testified that they were in an area "that's somewhat poorly lit..." in explaining why they needed to use the patrol lights. *Id. Prior* to doing the show up, Officer Mallot went through the admonition for show up. Vol. 2 RP 94. The officer also testified that in describing the events of her encounters with the defendants that night, the victim was able to give specific instruction as to what each defendant did. *Id.* Contrary to defendant's arguments, there is nothing in the record that supports a claim that the officer was in any manner leading the victim in her identification of the defendant.

In addition to a lack of support for defendant's argument, it must be emphasized that the victim stated several times that she had met and seen the defendant prior to the robbery. Vol. 2 RP 113-15, 118-19; Vol. 3 RP

- 16 - brief.doc

131, 138-39, 166-67, 178. Defendant does not contest this fact.

Defendant argues the admission of testimony by the victim that she had previously purchased drugs from defendant and "known defendant a couple of years," should have been suppressed. Vol. 3 RP 166.

The victim positively identified the defendant that night. After telling the officer to ask the defendant to "put his face up," the victim said "yes, that's him;" "there's no doubt in my mind." Vol. 3 RP 159. "100% positive." Vol. 3RP 159. The victim also positively identified the defendant in court as one of the two robbers. Vol. 2 RP 113.

iii. Conclusion

In short, the victim testified that she had met the defendant some time earlier, that she had seen him since that contact and before the robbery, and she saw him several times the night of the robbery. She testified that the man she saw on those occasions, whom she only knew as "D," was the same man in the courtroom. Vol. 3 RP 166. There is no evidence to support the contention that the identification was in any way unduly or impermissibly suggestive. It is unlikely the trial court would have suppressed the field identification or "show-up," therefore it cannot serve as a basis for a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel.

- 17 - brief.doc

b. Applicable Law: Failure to object

The failure to object constitutes counsel incompetence justifying reversal only in egregious circumstances on testimony central to the State's case. *State v. Johnston*, 143 Wn. App. 1, 19, 177 P.3d 1127 (2007). "The decision of when or whether to object is a classic example of trial tactics." *State v. Madison*, 53 Wn. App. 754, 763, 770 P.2d 662 (1989). "Only in egregious circumstances, on testimony central to the State's case, will the failure to object constitute incompetence of counsel justifying reversal." *State v. Madison*, 53 Wn. App. at 763.

To establish that counsel's failure to object to evidence constituted ineffective assistance, defendant must show that (1) counsel's failure to object fell below prevailing professional norms, (2) the trial court would have sustained the objection if counsel actually had made it, and (3) the result of the trial would have differed if the trial court excluded the evidence. *State v. Sexsmith*, 138 Wn. App. 497, 509, 157 P.3d 901 (2007), *review denied*, 163 Wn.2d 1014 (2008). "The test of the skill and competency of counsel is: After considering the entire record, was the accused afforded a fair trial[?]" *State v. Lei*, 59 Wn.2d 1, 6, 365 P.2d 609 (1961). Defendant must show that "'there is no conceivable legitimate tactic explaining counsel's performance.'" *State v. Grier*, 171 Wn.2d at 33 (quoting State v. Reichenbach, 153 Wn.2d 126, 130, 101 P.3d 80 (2004)).

- 18 - brief.doc

i. Applicable Facts